IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HERMAN JACKSON JR.

APPELLANT

V.

No. 2007-KP-00394-CDR

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

COURT APPEALED FROM: Circuit Court

COUNTY: Coahoma

TRIAL JUDGE: Albert B. Smith III

FILED

OCT 17 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PREPARED BY :

Herman Jackson Jr. Pro. se
APPELLANT

Herman Jackson Jr.

M.D.O.C # 70433

S.M.C. I

P.O. BOX 1419

Leakesville Ms. 39451

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME this the 17 day
of October 2007

Gia Nicole McLeod
NOTARY PUBLIC



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HERMAN JACKSON JR.

APPELLANT

V.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the June 2005 Term of the Grand Jury, for the Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial District of Coahoma County, Mississippi, Herman Jackson Jr., a/k/a Herman Jackson, III., d/k/a Main was indicted in Count I for Possession of a certain Controlled Substance, Marijuana, in an amount between 30 grams and 250 grams, a schedule I controlled substance as provided for by section 41-29-115 (a)(4) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, Ann. as amended, COUNT II for Possession of a Certain Controlled Substance, Cocaine Salt, in an amount .1 gram to 2 grams, a schedule II controlled substance as provided for by Section 41-29-115 (a)(4) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, Ann. as amended, and as a Second and Subsequent Offender under Miss. Code. MCA § 41-29-147. After a Jury trial, Mr. Jackson was convicted and sentenced in Count I to serve one year and in Count II to serve eight years, in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. These sentences were to run concurrent.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

"Corruption" "Conspiracy" and "Racial Discrimination"

PLEADINGS

Petitioner's Prose representation is a layman at law ask this Hon. Court to construe the facts of this case under the authority of MAINES VS. KERNER, 404 U.S. 519, 92 S.Ct. 594, 30 L. ed 2d 652 (1972) in that Prose pleadings are to be construed with a lenient eye and are not to be held to the standards of lawyers.

Petitioner further ask that this Brief be construed upon the doctrine of excusable error, without being scrutinized for the technical excellence of a Attorney.

Petitioner also ask this Hon. Court, even though there are several errors being raised, he ask this Hon. Court to review this case for Plain errors as well.

Respectfully Submitted
Gerrard Jackson Jr. Prose

ARGUMENT I

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to have the ~~the~~ assistance of counsel for his defense. U.S. Const. Amend. VI. By the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution this right is made obligatory upon the states. ~~The~~ [**23] Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963). This right means "the right to the effective assistance of counsel." McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 77 S.Ct. 14, 90 S.Ct. 1491, 25 L. Ed. 2d 763 (1970).

Article 3, § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution provides: "In all criminal prosecutions the [*1358] accused shall have a right to be heard by himself or counsel, or both." We hold today that the Mississippi Constitution's right to counsel embraces all rights guaranteed to a criminally accused defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Triplett v. State, 666 So. 2d 1356 (1995)

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel the Defendant must meet the two-pronged test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 682, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984), and adopted by this court. Alexander v. State, 605 So. 2d 1100, 1123 (Miss. 1992); McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990). The Strickland test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's performance (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. McQuarter, 574 So. 2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate both prongs is on the defendant. Id.; Leatherwood v. State, 473 So. 2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1984), reversed in part, affirmed in part, 539 So. 2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter, So. 2d at 687. The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that but for his attorney's errors, defendant would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So. 2d 1080,

1086 (Miss. 1992); [**16] Ahmad v. State, 603 So. 2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992) ~~730~~

This Court must determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So. 2d 776, 780 (Miss. 1988); ~~Read v. State,~~ 730 So. 2d 832, 839 (Miss. 1983). Our scrutiny of counsel's performance must be deferential. Ahmad, 603 So. 2d at 848. If defendant raises questions of fact regarding the deficiency of counsel's conduct or prejudice to the defendant, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of counsel. Alexander, 605 So. 2d at 1173; Leathecanon, 473 So. 2d at 971. Where this Court determines defendant's counsel was ineffective, the appropriate remedy is to remand for a new trial. Nicolaou, 612 So. 2d at 1086. Stringer v. State 627 So. 2d ~~322~~ 326, 328, 29 (Miss. 1993).

To establish predicate for Sixth Amendment violation as result of conflict of interest, defendant must be able to show that his lawyer actively represented conflicting interests and that actual conflict had adverse effect upon representation. Once defendant show both actual conflict and ~~adverse effect~~ adverse effect, prejudice is presumed and defendant is entitled to relief U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 6. Strickland v. Washington 104 S. Ct. 2052 at 1163 (2).

1. Defendant and his Trial counsel had a "Conflict of interest" on "January 4, 2007" during a "Attorney Visit". In which counsel was disloyal, and trying to deceive the defendant about his case, counsel told "defendant several things that was untrue about his case". Counsel was trying to "deceive" the defendant, to make him take a deal. Counsel was placed on defendants case to cause a "Grave Miscarriage of Justice" to the defendant. The defendant advised counsel that he was "Fired" and to "withdraw" off of his case. However counsel did not file a motion to withdraw or notify the court that defendant "had Fired him". SEE: ~~THE~~ LETTERS, EXHIBITS A-C-D

These "letters" was sent to the "Mississippi Bar Ass." and the "Attorney General's Office", dated "January 4, 2007". Counsel also told defendant and I quote: that he was not going to file any motions, because the Judge was not going to hear them noway, (unquote). Defendant

Wrote Att. Shackelford on December 15, 2006 asking him to file several motions on defendant behalf. SEE: LETTER EXHIBIT-B also: SEE (Tr. 17- lines 12-19), (Tr. pages 16-26). Att. Shackelford did not deny any of the allegation the defendant made against him during the Pre trial hearing. In fact Att. Shackelford agreed with the defendant: (Tr. 19 lines 17-20) Mr. SHACKELFORD: He asked me to file it. I did not file it, not"
DEFENDANT JACKSON: Yeah, I asked him to file that motion and he did not file it.

Counsel has an obligation to a client, Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.1 COMPETENCE "A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and "preparation" reasonably necessary for the representation. M.R.P.C. RULE 1.1 CONFLICT OF INTEREST: COMMENT Loyalty to a client. Loyalty is an essential element in the lawyer's relationship to a client. An impermissible conflict of interest may exist before representation is undertaken, in which event the representation should be declined. If such a conflict arises after representation has been undertaken the lawyer should withdraw from representation. SEE: STRICKLAND [8] [9] Representation of a criminal defendant entails certain basic duties. Counsel's function is to assist the defendant and hence counsel owes the client a duty of loyalty, a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. See Cuyler v. Sullivan, supra, 446 U.S. at 346, 90 S.Ct. at 177. "Jackson, Counsel was disloyal to him when Counsel told him he was not charge with the drugs in the vehicle. Counsel also told him the Indictment was not defected and Improper. Counsel also told him the Trooper did not have to give him a Traffic ticket for speeding." This is why the defendant "fired" Att. Shackelford on January 4, 2007 and asked him to withdraw off of his case. Att. Shackelford actively represented a conflicting interests and that actual conflict

had adverse effect upon representation.

(2) COUNSEL Failed to file any pretrial motions, even after defendant Sent him a letter dated December 15, 2007 SEE: LETTER EXHIBIT-B

Att. Shackelford did not deny this during Pre-Trial (Tr. pages 16-26).

SEE LETTER EXHIBIT-A dated January 4, 2007. The Record is void of pretrial motions by the defense attorney in which hindering Defendant first Communication with his attorney in violation of M.R.P.C. Rule 1.4 "(a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information" "(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation" These

deficiencies caused extensive prejudice because defendant counsel fell to file the Motions. If counsel had filed the motions, the defendant had ask him to, There's a strange possibility the defendant would not have had a trial. In fact the defendant filed the very same motions, he asked Att. Shackelford to file (Tr. pages 16-26) The

motions was denied, because, Att. Shackelford, Judge Smith, ADA Musselwhite, ADA Mallette, Trooper Duncan and Deputy ~~Robert~~ Hudgins conspired against the defendant to cause a "Grave Miscarriage of Justice." M.R.P.C. Rule 1.2 Scope of

Representation "(a) A lawyer shall abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of representation, subject to paragraphs (c), (d) and (e), and shall consult with the client as to the means by which they to be pursued. A lawyer shall abide by a client's decision whether to accept an offer of settlement of a matter. In a criminal case, a lawyer shall abide by the client's decision, after consultation with the lawyer, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and whether the client will testify." It is obvious defendant's Attorney did not comply with ethics of his profession nor integrity to the court or defendant denying him his sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

(3) Counsel did not raise any objections to the two count Indictment or proof therein on the Defected and Improper Indictment. (Tr. pg. 23 lines 3-6) MS. MUSSELWHITE: "Your Honor, I would like to ask for a Motion to amend the indictment to conform to the proof for the date." Att. Shackelford did not try to object.

(4) Counsel failed to challenge defendant arrest.

(5) Counsel failed to move to suppress the evidence that was seized from the defendant and out of the vehicle.

(6) Counsel failed to test the admissibility of items seized from the defendant that allegedly incriminated him and which were introduced into evidence without objection although a basis for attacking the legality of the arrest and search existed on lack of probable cause grounds.

(7) Counsel failed to investigate, interview, subpoena, or call to testify the passenger Willie Scott. "Willie Scott was on federal probation for cocaine at the time the vehicle was stopped." SEE STATEMENT OF FACTS WILLIE SCOTT Exhibit - E. "It clearly states NOT ONCE did I see weed or crack on him." The motion of Discovery and Indictment states Marijuana was taken off of Willie Scott. "Deputy Wayne Hurlkins clearly stated Trooper Duncan found some Cocaine on the passenger (Tr. pg. 124 lines 3-29) (Tr. pg. 125 lines 1-6)." IF Att. Shackelford would have conducted a investigation this could have helped the defendant Strickland v. Washington 104 S.Ct. 2052 at 1131 Crim. Law 64.13 (6).

(8) Counsel failed to investigate, interview, subpoena, or call to testify Jerry Lutts. he could have known Trooper Duncan was testifying falsely during the ^{CROSS} ~~DIRECT~~ Examination By ^{Shackelford} ~~MS. MUSSELWHITE~~ (Tr. pg. 64 lines 11-16) this was false testimony by Trooper Duncan the license Plate would not have shown Jerry Lutts own that vehicle Plate No. 128912. Trooper Duncan testified falsely.

when he testified. (Tr. pg. 64 lines 17-26) This testimony could have been proven false, if Att. Shackelford had conducted a investigation and called Jerry Lutts to testify. If Att. Shackelford had investigated he would have known the defendant was not purchasing the vehicle from Jerry Lutts, this testimony was false (Tr. pg. 71 lines 1-24) what the defendant testified to was the truth. (Tr. pg. 132 lines 11-20). (9) Counsel failed to inquire into the defendant background, family and personal circumstances, employment associations, and related matters to any significant extent.

(10) Counsel reserved opening statement but never gave one even though the prosecuting attorney gave a detailed and incriminating opening statement.

(11) Counsel did not ask the defendant nothing about the case, the only thing he was trying to do was "deceive the defendant about his case and trying to trick him into taken a deal. He never asked the defendant who owned the vehicle.

(12) Counsel failed to object to the false testimony of Trooper Duncan: (Tr. pg. 57 lines 23-28) (Tr. pg. 60 lines 4-8). (Tr. pg. 60 line 20-24)

(Tr. pg. 61 lines 17-19). "This testimony of Trooper Duncan was false and can be proven through his reports. There was "two reports" done by Trooper Duncan the First Report is: Report of Investigation/Field Interviews Date 02-11-05, Time 1525 Reporting Officer Walter Duncan Officer ID#691, Badge# E-21 Assisting Officer Wayne Hutchinson SO-2 SYNOPSIS: I was south bound on U.S. 61 S of Clarksdale Ms. Coahoma Co. I Noticed a North bound vehicle At high rate of speed, Radar, indicated 71-65 zone got said vehicle stopped, Driver had No D.L. got subject out put Natured soft object in pocket Identified As green leafy substance "Inventory of vehicle, Resulted in A Plastic bag containing white powder substance and "under seat of driver" A plastic bag containing Several other Plastic Bags of green leafy substance". officer signature Walter Duncan E21."

"The Report of Investigation / Field interview, has been taken out of my RECORDS" the individuals who conspired against me did not want this Honorable Court to see this report because my 14th Amendment was violated, and this proves the prosecution witness Trooper Walter Duncan testimony was false." Trooper Duncan Second Statement further proves that he was testifying falsely. MHP Report Case File # TOS-1276 February 20, 2005 "As I began to pat Mr. Jackson down I noticed a soft object in his right rear pocket. I removed the item and discovered a plastic bag containing a green leafy substance." "He began the vehicle inventory and under an ashtray" "that was on the front seat between the driver and passenger a plastic bag containing a white powder substance was found" and under the front seat driver side another larger plastic bag containing a green leafy substance was found." This statement further proves Trooper Duncan testified falsely SEE EXHIBITS D-6a - F. Deputy HUDGINS VOLUNTARY STATEMENT. "As Trooper Duncan Patted the Subject down Trooper Duncan Felt and object in the Subject ~~down~~ Front Pocket." Trooper Duncan "ask the Subject to remove it from his pocket" "that's when we found the drugs on the Subject." "Then we looked in the vehicle and seen a plastic bag with powder in it." "End of report." This statement is witness by "Walter Duncan" See EXHIBITS D-7. "This statement further proves Trooper Duncan was testifying falsely." The state decided not to call ~~Trooper~~ Deputy Hudgins as a witness, therefore the defendant had to use Deputy Hudgins as his witness." (Tr. pg. 90 lines 24-26), (Tr. pg. 91 lines 22-29) (Tr. pg. 91 lines 1-20). "Trooper Duncan Court ~~test~~ and Att. Shackelford did not want Deputy Hudgins voluntary statement read to the Jury (Tr. pg. 116 lines 1-23). This proves the court and Att. Shackelford knew Trooper Duncan had testified falsely and that Deputy Hudgins statement could prove that." (P3). "COUNSEL Failed to object to the false testimony of Trooper Duncan, when he said he issued the ticket for speeding." Att. Shackelford; "The court" and the "prosecutors" knew this was false testimony (Tr. 63 lines 11-21), (Tr. pg. 20 lines 11-29), (Tr. pg. 21 lines 1-29) (Tr. pg. 22 lines 1-12).

"Att. Shackelford, the court knew I did not receive a ticket for speeding."
"On CROSS EXAMINATION of Trooper Duncan by, Att. Shackelford" did not ask any questions about why Trooper Duncan did not issue the defendant a traffic ticket for speeding" (Tr. pgs. 64-70), this further proves Att. Shackelford was helping the STATE. On DIRECT EXAMINATION BY DEFENDANT JACKSON OF Trooper Duncan he Question Trooper Duncan about the ticket for speeding in a Attempt to prove to the Jury Trooper Duncan was ~~not~~ testifying falsely. (Tr. pg. 93 lines 14-21). "When the defendant ask that the traffic ticket be put up on the tripod, the ADA Mr. MALLETTE Jump up out of his sit, as I was walking to the Projector, holding a traffic ticket high in the air so the Jury could see it, and walk past me, and told the court and I quote, "I got the ticket right here your Honor, unquote." The Transcripts has been Altered and Tampered with and the statement of Mr. Mallette has been taken out. But the defendant will show that a unjust act still occurred. (Tr. pg. 93-20 Lines 20-25) DEFENDANT JACKSON: I ask that the traffic ticket to be put on the tripod."

"THE COURT: "If the District Attorney's office would help Mr. Jackson. Do you want the Jury to see that, Mr. Jackson?"

"It is obvious what happen, why would the court ask the District Attorney's office" to help Mr. Jackson, when these are the very same people who was "illegally prosecuting Mr. Jackson." It was already established that Mr. Jackson did not received a traffic ticket for speeding ~~was~~ during pre-Trial Motions. SEE: (Tr. pgs. 20, 21, 22) "Why The court did not ask Att. Shackelford to help Mr. Jackson, because, the court knew there was no traffic ticket for speeding." (Tr. 93 lines 14-29)" (Tr. pg. 94 lines 1-29) (Tr. pg. 95 lines 1-26). At know time did the prosecutors try to enter or have the traffic tickets identified, Under there EXAMINATION of Trooper Duncan. "Soon as the defendant Ask Trooper Duncan about the Traffic ticket for speeding the prosecutor "Mysteriously" finds a Traffic ticket for speeding and present it to the court." (Tr. 95 lines 8-12) SEE EXHIBITS 5-6, 5-7 And the prosecutor "Mr. MALLETTE" presented ~~this~~ a Traffic Ticket for speeding and the COURT had it marked for Identification

as Defense EXHIBIT D-1 (Tr. pg. 94 lines 6-29)" and then the prosecutor MR. MALLETT is trying to make it look like I knew about the ticket for Speeding (Tr. pg. 94 lines 10-12)." "The Traffic ticket for Speeding was ~~not~~ Entered by the prosecution." The only traffic tickets I received in my motion of discovery and from Trooper Duncan SEE: EXHIBITS G-H-I. "And Att. Shackelford knew I did not receive a ticket for speeding."

(14.) COUNSEL allowed Trooper Duncan to testify falsely during the cross EXAMINATION by counsel. (Tr. pg. 64 lines 1-25). (Tr. pg. 65 lines 23-29) (Tr. pg. 66 lines 1-29), (Tr. pg. 67 line 1-26). "I told Att. Shackelford before he cross EXAMINE ~~and~~ Trooper Duncan, that he was testifying falsely. Att. Shackelford told me and "I quote, to leave him alone" unquote." Att. Shackelford walked over to the counsel table during cross, and I told him again Trooper Duncan was testifying falsely about where he found those drugs (Tr. pg. 67 lines 25-28). When Att. Shackelford started back examining Trooper Duncan he ask him where the drugs found, this examination was weak (Tr. pg. 68 lines 1-29) (Tr. pg. 69 lines 1).

(15) Counsel was not prepared for trial the only thing he had was a note book with nothing in it. The prosecutor Mr. MALLETT: had to give the defendant a clean copy of "Trooper Duncan MHP report" (~~Tr. pg.~~ 106 lines 1-29) (Tr. pg. 107 lines 1-29) (Tr. pg. 108 lines 1-10).

(16) Counsel did not present no type of defense for the defendant Even tho there was several defenses he could has made.

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