IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HERMAN JACKSON, JR.

FILED

APPELLANT

JAN 18 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KP-0394-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VS.

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

DEFENDANT HAD CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AVAILABLE, AT TRIAL.

Issue II.

DEFENDANT WAS ADEQUATELY WARNED OF THE PERILS OF SELF-REPRESENTATION.

Issue III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO RECUSE.

Issue IV.

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Issue V. & VI

THE INDICTMENT WAS NOT DEFECTIVE. AND THE JURY INSTRUCTION WERE NOT IMPROPER. BOTH ISSUES ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

ARGUMENT

I.

DEFENDANT HAD CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AVAILABLE, AT TRIAL.

In this initial allegation of error defendant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel and seeks the relief of discharge.

Defendant correctly cites the appropriate standard to be applied to such question on review and does explicitly list 18 specific, claimed, deficiencies of trial counsel.

- ¶ 11. In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Hull must demonstrate that his counsel's performance was deficient and that his deficiency prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The burden of proof rests with Hull, and the Court will measure the alleged deficiency within the totality of circumstances. Hiter v. State, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss.1995). However, a presumption exists that the attorney's conduct was adequate. Burns v. State, 812 So.2d 668, 673 (¶ 14) (Miss.2001).
- ¶ 12. Hull must show that there is a "reasonable probability" that but for the alleged errors of counsel, the sentence of the trial court would have been different. Nicolau v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss.1992).

Hull v. State, 2007 WL 4303508 (Miss.App. 2007).

- 1 & 2) Defendant asserts his attorney had a conflict of interest because his attorney would not file certain motions pre-trial at the request of defendant.
 - ¶ 16... In Powell v. State, 536 So.2d 13, 16 (Miss.1988), the court held that "the mere fact that the attorney did not file a motion for discovery is not sufficient to raise an ineffective assistance of counsel claim." The Powell court determined that "the filing of the strial

does not normally, and will not do so here, second guess counsel's trial strategy. . . .

Graham v. State, 861 So.2d 1053 (Miss.App. 2003).

Decisions regarding the filing of motions pre-trial, whether requested by defendant or not is within the gambit and trial strategy of defense counsel. Further defendant cannot claim prejudice as he himself brought these motions to the court's attention and got rulings.

3) Failure pobjec to amendment of indicatment to conform to facts.

Such amendments to an indictment are legal as allowed by statute. Counsel for defendant knew this and is not required to make spurious objections.

¶ 16. . . . [A]mendments to indictments are allowed to conform to the proof educed at trial. Miss.Code Ann. Section 99-17-13 (Rev.1994). ...

Pearson v. State, 740 So.2d 346 (Miss.App. 1999).

4) Failure to Challenge Arrest.

Trial counsel, after seeing the evidence and how it was obtained, need not make sources moderns or objections.

¶ 35. Finally, McKee argues trial counsel was deficient by failing to seek suppression of the cocaine found in the truck he was driving. As discussed at length above, there was no violation of any constitutional rights with respect to the search and seizure of evidence from the truck or from McKee's person. Counsel did not perform defectively by recognizing this and declining to make spurious objections or motions. We will not revisit this discussion here further.

McKee v. State, 878 So.2d 232 (Miss.App. 2004).

5) Failure to seek suppression of evidence seized from vehicle.

Again, trial counsel as part of trial strategy need not make every known edjection or motion knowing that the law and facts are contrary. Such is, in fact, a showing of a knowledgeable trial practitioner and evidence of effective advocacy.

Manual 2008 So.2d 232 (Miss.App. 2004).

6) Failure to object to admissibility of evidence.

The admission of evidence and objections to the admission of evidence are all within the gambit of trial strategy and not held to be ineffective assistance of counsel.

Jackson v. State, 969 So.2d 124 (Miss.App. 2007).

7 & 8) Failure to investigate or interview witnesses.

Defendant makes a convoluted argument about investigating ownership of the vehicle, etc. Further, it would appear defendant is taking words out of context in the transcript and parsing others. The truth of this argument is -- it doesn't matter, not at all. Defendant does not dispute that facts that he was driving, speeding, he didn't have a license, he didn't have insurance or a current inspection sticker on his vehicle. He carried no identification or other documentation. Plus, when arrested prohibited substances were found on his person when he was searched further at the sheriff's department more illegal drugs were found. Believe me further investigation would

have only turned up more damaging facts, history on this defendant. Additionally, this issue is without merit because defendant makes no claim on how this supposed failure prejudiced him. The fact that the car was being sold, or stolen, or didn't belong to him doesn't matter. Not a bit. No prejudice, no claim. *Dahl v. State*, 2007 WL 4303497 (¶ 11)(Miss.App. 2007).

10) Failure to make an opening statement.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has the making of an opening statment is a strategic one. Within this argument defendant cites not to case law, authority, transcript, nor makes any argument. Such a decision is not per se ineffective and defendant has not shown any prejudice. Such is not ineffective assistance in this case.

¶ 38. Golden argues that his counsel was ineffective for failure to give an opening statement. This Court has held that the decision of whether to make an opening statement is a strategic one. Gilliard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 716 (Miss.1985). Furthermore, "[f]ailure to give an opening statement is not per se ineffective assistance of counsel." Branch v. State, 882 So.2d 36, 55 (Miss.2004). Additionally, counsel for the defendant has failed to show how trial counsel's failure to give an opening statement prejudiced Golden. As such, we find that this argument has no merit.

Golden v. State, 968 So.2d 378 (Miss. 2007).

11) Trial counsel never asked defendant who owned the vehicle.

It doesn't matter, didn't ma the day he was arrested, didn't matter the day of trial, and most assuredly doesn't matter now. Plus, no claim of how this prejudiced

defendant. Consider again it was defendant who was driving without license, insurance, inspections sticker, speeding while having drugs on is person in a vehicle with other drugs. Ownership of the vehicles doesn't matter. *Dahl v. State*, 2007 WL 4303497 (¶ 11)(Miss.App. 2007).

12 & 13) Failure to object to the testimony of Officer Duncan.

Short answer, – trial counsel did object to the testimony of Officer Duncan and it was sustained! Tr. 61-62. So much for that argument. And, again, defendant parses language and takes it out of context. Plus he really can't claim prejudice as counsel did object, was sustained. No relief should be granted on this claim of ineffective assistance. *Dahl v. State*, 2007 WL 4303497 (¶ 11)(Miss.App. 2007).

14) Failure to object to false testimony of Officer Duncan.

See above answer. Plus defendant himself aided by his attorney called this Officer in the defense case in chief. And defendant, aided by counsel, had the opportunity to ask all of those questions. Example, vehicle ownership, tr. 70-71. No truth to the matter and no prejudice shown. *Dahl*, *supra*.

15) Counsel not prepared for trial.

Looking to the transcript it is abundantly clear counsel for defendant was aware of the evidence, knew the gist of the testimony, was aware of the lab results, made objections and was available to consult with defendant. He was prepared. The

problem was his client. Be that as it may in totality trial counsel was presumed prepared and effective. Defendant short claim avers no actual prejudice so he cannot prevail on an ineffective assistance on this claim. *Dahl*, *supra*.

16) Failure to present any defense.

First of all a defense was presented. See transcript pp.93-135. Second closing arguments were made in his defense to which trial counsel objected, again, successfully. Defendant claims witnesses but does not list them or to what they may have testified and how such failure may have prejudiced his defense. Consequently, no merit to this claim *Dahl*, supra.

17) Failure to question officer about the passenger Willie Scott.

Again, defendant himself did much of the cross examination and questioning of this officer. And, again, – prejudice? None alleged. No relief. *Dahl, supra*.

18) Alleged Comments by defense Counsel.

Within the transcript, at trial, defendant himself avers that comments by his counsel offended him. Tr. 24. The comment, quoted from defendant himself, is significantly different in the trial transcript than he now forwards in his brief. Notwithstanding such inconsistencies, trial counsel actively worked for this defendant. The trial judge, more than once, extolled the virtues, capabilities and success of his defense attorney. And, it is worth noting that when confronted with

difficulties he turned to counsel for advice or correctly entering an objection or getting evidence admitted during his defense. (Defense case in chief). No ineffective assistance and no prejudice. *Dahl*, *supra*.

Totality of trial – defendant had Constitutionally effective assistance.

Issue II. DEFENDANT WAS ADEQUATELY WARNED OF THE PERILS OF SELF-REPRESENTATION.

A look to the transcript shows defendant was determined and had made up his mind to "fire" his attorney for perceived inadequacies. Tr. 73. The judge did not want to grant defendant's wish, but did allow, hybrid representation.

As our State reviewing Courts have held such is legally sufficient.

¶ 31. Related to this issue is Busick's contention that he did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to counsel because the trial court failed to fully inform him of the dangers of self-representation. This issue is without merit. The record shows that the trial court fully complied with Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice 8.05 by thoroughly warning Busick of the dangers of self-representation, after which Busick unequivocally stated that he desired to proceed pro se with standby appointed counsel. Then, the court held that Busick understood what he was doing and made the decision knowingly and voluntarily. URCCC 8.05; Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). Moreover, we harbor substantial doubt that a waiver of appointed counsel was required because the magnitude of appointed counsel's participation throughout the proceedings evinced an arrangement of hybrid representation. Metcalf v. State, 629 So.2d 558, 565-66 (Miss.1993).

Busick v. State, 906 So.2d 846 (Miss.App. 2005).

There is no merit to this allegation of error and no relief should be granted.

Issue III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO RECUSE.

Defendant made a motion to have the judge recuse himself. The trial court denied the motion Tr. 22

¶ 29. "A judge is required to disqualify himself if a reasonable person, knowing all the circumstances, would harbor doubts about his impartiality." Jones v. State, 841 So.2d 115 (¶ 60) (Miss.2003). "The decision to recuse or not to recuse is one left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, so long as he applies the correct legal standards and is consistent in the application." Id. "On appeal, a trial judge is presumed to be qualified and unbiased and this presumption may only be overcome by evidence which produces a reasonable doubt about the validity of the presumption." Id. "In determining whether a judge should have recused himself, the reviewing court must consider the trial as a whole and examine every ruling to determine if those rulings were prejudicial to the complaining party." Id.

Jackson v. State, 962 So.2d 649 (Miss.App. 2007).

Within the cited point of the transcript the trial judge had no memory of any prior altercation with this defendant. Further the trial court said he had no ill will against defendant and he would be given a fair trial. Deeper reading of the record reveals that is exactly what transpired.

Now, as to defendant's claim he was beaten in from of fifty witnesses and hospitalized, – such is not supported by the record before this court.

Therefore based upon the standard recently reiterated in *Jackson* the State would ask this court to deny any relief based upon this claim.

Issue IV. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Within this extensive and fantastic allegation of error defendant broadly asserts vindictive prosecution, collusion of the justice system, the planting of evidence, falsification of documents, misconduct by everyone that approached him, numerous conspiracies and assorted misconduct on all sides.

¶ 41.... The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct has been clearly established. "Where prosecutorial misconduct endangers the fairness of a trial and the impartial administration of justice, reversal must follow." Acevedo v. State, 467 So.2d at 226.

Goodin v. State, 787 So.2d 639 (Miss. 2001).

Looking to the record – as objectively as possible – it does not appear that any of the allegations raised are supported by the record. Oh, to be sure defendant claims there are inconsistencies and outright errors. And there were. For example the officer testified he put the wrong date on his report. He admitted his mistake. This does not make the document false or the evidence inadmissible – it is a mistake. Nothing more.

Accordingly, it is the contention of the State there was no conspiracy, plan, miscarriage of justice, collusion or prosecutorial misconduct.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

Issue V. & VI

THE INDICTMENT WAS NOT DEFECTIVE. AND THE JURY INSTRUCTION WERE NOT IMPROPER. BOTH ISSUES ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The whole premise of this allegation of error appears to be that a plea of "nolo contendere" cannot be used to enhance punishment.

Such is not the law. The law is that prior judgments based on nolo contendere may be used for enhancement purposes. *Bailey v. State*, 728 So.2d 1070 (Miss. 1997). The State would kindly ask defendant to spread this bit of knowledge amongst his fellow inmates.

Next, defendant asserts the indictment was amended by jury instruction when "knowingly or intentionally" was changed to "willfully, feloniously."

¶ 25. We see no error for two reasons. First, the record reveals that no objection was made on these grounds at trial. The "[f]ailure to offer a timely objection to an instruction at trial constitutes a waiver of the issue on appeal." Roberson v. State, 838 So.2d 298, 305 (¶ 27) (Miss.Ct.App.2002). Second, the statute under which Steen was convicted only requires a person to either "knowingly or intentionally" sell a controlled substance. Miss.Code Ann. § 41-29-139(a) (Rev.2001). We find no merit to this issue.

Steen v. State, 873 So.2d 155 (Miss.App. 2004).

The State could not find an objection on these grounds in the record and it is barred. Additionally, it is without merit in fact and law. The terms are in essence, interchangable, to wit:

This Court has stated that "[i]t is inconceivable that an act willfully done is not also knowingly done." Ousley v. State, 154 Miss. 451, 122 So. 731 (1929). Stated differently, "willfully" means "knowingly." Moreover, "wilful" means nothing more than doing an act intentionally. Perrett v. Johnson, 253 Miss. 194, 175 So.2d 497 (1965). As we stated in Butler v. State, 177 Miss. 91, 170 So. 148 (Miss. 1936),

Moore v. State, 676 So.2d 244, 246 (Miss. 1996).

Now, looking to the list of supposed error in the reading of the instructions as opposed to the actual instruction. There is no objection in the record and this issue is barred.

Accordingly, no relief should be granted on these allegations of error.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the jury verdicts of guilty and the trial courts sentence.